2003

John Miller and Joan Miller v. United States of America : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction of the issue of law certified by the United States District Court for the District of Utah pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(1)(2001).

ISSUES

Judge Tena Campbell of the United States District Court for the District of Utah certified the following issue of law to this Court:

Whether a federal government employee, who ordinarily would be immune from suit in cases of strict liability, may be liable under Utah's Dramshop Act if the Plaintiffs establish negligence.

(Addendum at tab 2.)

The United States submits that the issue as stated comprises two related issues:

1. Whether a person or entity that negligently provides alcohol to an intoxicated person is liable to a third party who is injured by the intoxicated person.
2. Whether the liability created by Utah's Dramshop Act is a form of strict liability that does not require proof of fault, wrongful intent, or negligence.

RELEVANT STATUTE

A copy of Utah's Dramshop Act in effect in 1999, when the relevant events allegedly occurred (Utah Code Ann. § 32A-14-101 (1999 Repl.)), is submitted at tab 1 of the addendum to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Proceedings Below

Plaintiffs John and Joan Miller sued the United States in the United States District Court seeking damages under the Federal Tort Claims Act ("FTCA"), 28 U.S.C. §§ 1346(b), 2671-2680. Plaintiffs allege that an employee of the United States negligently served alcohol to an intoxicated person in violation of Utah's Dramshop Act, and that the intoxicated person caused a motor vehicle accident that resulted in Plaintiffs' injuries.

The United States moved to dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint on the grounds that (1) Utah law does not recognize a common-law negligence claim against a dramshop for injuries caused by an intoxicated dramshop customer, and (2) the United States cannot be held liable under Utah's Dramshop Act because the FTCA exempts strict-liability claims from its waiver of sovereign immunity. After these issues were briefed and argued, Judge Tena Campbell of the United States District Court certified to this Court the issue of state law set forth above.

Factual Allegations

Since the issue certified to this Court arises in the context of a motion to dismiss, the following is a summary of the allegations of Plaintiffs' Complaint. (U.S. District Court record, document 1.)

Plaintiffs allege that on June 12, 1999, they were seriously injured in a motor vehicle accident caused by Arthur Valle. (Complaint, ¶ 10, 17-18.) Plaintiffs allege that Mr. Valle was intoxicated at the time of the accident and that his intoxication caused him to drive at an excessive speed and collide with Plaintiffs' vehicle. (Complaint, ¶10.)

Mr. Valle was an employee of the United States Air Force. (Complaint, ¶ 5.) Plaintiffs allege that Mr. Valle became intoxicated at the NCO (noncommissioned officer) Club at Hill Air Force Base. (Complaint, ¶ 6-7.) Plaintiffs allege that federal employees of the NCO Club "negligently and carelessly" served alcohol to Mr. Valle when he was "clearly and visibly extremely intoxicated" and allowed Mr. Valle to leave the NCO Club and drive an automobile while he was intoxicated. (Complaint, ¶ 8-9.) Plaintiffs allege that these actions by Air Force employees violated Utah's Dramshop Act. (Complaint, ¶ 9.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs' Complaint asserts claims for common-law negligence and for statutory liability under Utah's Dramshop Act. The United States is not liable to Plaintiffs under either legal theory.

Plaintiffs' claim for common-law negligence is legally deficient because this Court has consistently held that a third party who is injured by an intoxicated person does not have a cause of action for common-law negligence against the person or entity that served alcohol to the intoxicated person. The injured party's only basis for relief is Utah's Dramshop Act.

Plaintiffs cannot prevail against the United States under the Dramshop Act because Congress has not waived the federal government's sovereign immunity from that claim. The Federal Tort Claims Act waives the government's immunity only in cases of "the negligent or wrongful act or omission" of government employees. This language does not include claims based on theories of strict liability. Since this Court has consistently held that the Dramshop Act imposes a form of strict liability, the United States has not waived sovereign immunity from claims under Utah's Dramshop Act.

ARGUMENT

I. Legal Framework

The Federal Tort Claims Act is a limited waiver of the United States' sovereign immunity. U.S. v. Orleans, 425 U.S. 807, 813 (1976). Under the FTCA, the United States is liable in tort claims to the same extent that a private person would be liable under the law of the forum state. 28 U.S.C. §§ 1346(b), 2674; see Ayala v. United States, 49 F.3d 607, 610 (10th Cir. 1995). The FTCA's waiver of immunity is limited, however, to injuries resulting from "the negligent or wrongful act or omission" of a federal employee. 28 U.S.C. § 1346(b). The United States Supreme Court has consistently interpreted this language to mean that Congress did not intend to waive the federal government's immunity from claims based on theories of strict or absolute liability. Dalehite v. United States, 346 U.S. 15, 44-45 (1953); see also Laird v. Nelms, 406 U.S. 797, 803 (1972) (noting that the Dalehite decision was based "on the Court's determination that the [FTCA] did not authorize the imposition of strict liability of any sort upon the Government.").

Although Plaintiffs' Complaint is not divided into separate causes of action, it appears to allege two claims: (1) common-law negligence (the federal employees "negligently and carelessly" served alcohol to Mr. Valle when he was

“clearly and visibly” intoxicated),¹ and (2) statutory liability under Utah’s Dramshop Act. As discussed below, the United States cannot be held liable under either theory.

II. Plaintiffs’ common-law negligence cause of action does not exist under Utah law.

The Utah legislature enacted the Dramshop Act in 1981. Prior to the enactment of the Dramshop Act, a person or entity that served alcohol to an intoxicated person had no liability to a third party who was injured by the intoxicated person.

In 1981, the Dramshop Act was enacted and created a statutory cause of action, which did not exist at common law, against dramshops. Our legislature, like those of other states, passed dramshop legislation to abrogate the common law rule precluding the liability of a party who sells or otherwise provides alcohol to a person who is intoxicated and injures another.

Adkins v. Uncle Bart’s, Inc., 1 P.3d 528, 532 (Utah), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1011

(2000). The common-law rule in Utah is consistent with the law in most

jurisdictions. Id. (citing 45 Am. Jur. 2d *Intoxicating Liquors* § 502 (1999) and

Annotation, *Right of Action at Common Law for Damage Sustained by Plaintiff in*

¹The interpretation of Plaintiffs’ Complaint as alleging common-law negligence is corroborated by Plaintiffs’ prayer for damages of “no less than two million dollars,” which exceeds the maximum damages allowed by the Dramshop Act. See Utah Code Ann. § 32A-14-101(6) (1999 Repl.).

Consequence of Sale or Gift of Intoxicating Liquor or Habit-forming Drugs to Another, 97 A.L.R. 3d 528 (1980)). “The legal theory behind the general rule is that when a third party is injured by an inebriated individual, it is the drinking of the alcohol, not the furnishing of it, which proximately causes the injury.” Id. (citing Yost v. State, 640 P.2d 1044, 1046 n.2. (Utah 1981)).

This Court has recognized an exception to this common-law rule only in cases where the alcohol purveyors violated the statute barring the sale of alcohol to minors. Yost, 640 P.2d at 1046; Rees v. Albertson’s, Inc., 587 P.2d 130, 133 (Utah 1978). “These two cases [Yost and Rees] recognize a cause of action in favor of a third person against a vendor of alcohol who sells the same negligently and in violation of a statute to an underage purchaser, who becomes intoxicated and causes injury to the third person.” Mackay v. 7-Eleven Sales Corp., 995 P.2d 1233, 1235 (Utah 2000) (emphasis added). However, “neither [Yost nor Rees] established a common law cause of action in favor of third persons against commercial vendors of alcohol where there was no statutory violation.” Adkins, 1 P.3d at 532.

Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that federal employees “negligently and carelessly” served alcohol to Mr. Valle when he was intoxicated. This is precisely the type of common-law claim that this Court has consistently rejected. Mr. Valle

was not a minor, so Plaintiffs' claim does not fall within the narrow exception recognized in Yost and Rees. Consequently, Plaintiffs' common-law negligence claim is deficient as a matter of law.

III. The United States cannot be held liable under Utah's Dramshop Act because it is a strict-liability statute.

The nature of the liability imposed by the Dramshop Act is relevant because, as discussed above, the FTCA is a limited waiver of the federal government's sovereign immunity. Congress waived the government's immunity for injuries resulting from "the negligent or wrongful act or omission" of government employees. 28 U.S.C. § 1346(b). The United States Supreme Court has held that this language does not waive immunity for claims based on theories of strict liability.

In Dalehite v. United States, the plaintiffs claimed, among other things, that the federal government was subject to strict liability in connection with an explosion that occurred during the transportation of a fertilizer compound. The plaintiffs argued that the FTCA's imposition of liability for the "wrongful act" of a government employee should include liability for an allegedly "extra hazardous" activity such as the transportation of explosive fertilizer. 346 U.S. at 44-45. The U.S. Supreme Court disagreed. The Court acknowledged that the plaintiffs' legal

theory was “well known in tort law generally” but nonetheless held that the plaintiffs’ strict-liability claim was barred because “the [FTCA] requires a negligent act.” Id.

The Supreme Court reiterated this interpretation of the FTCA in Laird v. Nelms, where the plaintiffs sought to recover for property damage allegedly resulting from a sonic boom caused by U.S. military aircraft. The Supreme Court rejected this claim because it was based on a strict-liability theory arising from an allegedly “ultrahazardous activity.” 406 U.S. at 800-801. The Court relied on its holding in Dalehite that “the Act did not authorize the imposition of strict liability of any sort upon the Government.” Id. at 803 (emphasis added).

Although the extent of the FTCA’s coverage is a federal question for the federal district court’s determination, that issue depends on the type of liability imposed by Utah’s Dramshop Act. The United States submits that this requires nothing more than a restatement of this Court’s consistent interpretation of the Dramshop Act as a strict-liability statute.

This Court first addressed this issue in 1991. “The dramshop statute imposes strict liability, the effect of which is to make it unnecessary to allege and prove negligence on the part of the dramshop.” Reeves v. Gentile, 813 P.2d 111, 117 (Utah 1991), overruled on other grounds, Red Flame, Inc. v. Martinez, 996

P.2d 540, 543 (Utah 2000). “[T]he clear intent of the legislature was to compensate innocent third parties by making dramshop owners strictly liable without regard to the finding of fault, wrongful intent, or negligent conduct on their part.” Reeves, 813 P.2d at 116. In Red Flame, the Court partially overruled Reeves, holding that a dramshop’s liability under the Act could be apportioned with the liability of the drunk driver. 996 P.2d at 543. Nonetheless, the Court in Red Flame confirmed the premise of Reeves that “the Dramshop Liability Act prescribes a form of strict liability rather than traditional negligence” Id.

In Adkins v. Uncle Bart’s, Inc., this Court again evaluated the nature of the liability imposed by the Dramshop Act and again concluded that it imposes “a form of strict liability.” 1 P.3d at 532. The Court cited with approval the conclusion in Reeves that the legislature’s purpose in enacting the Dramshop Act was to compensate innocent third parties without requiring proof of fault or negligence. Id. (citing Reeves, 813 P.2d at 116).

This Court’s construction of the Dramshop Act is consistent with the Act’s terms. As discussed above, the Utah legislature enacted the Dramshop Act to provide a remedy that did not exist at common law. But the legislature did not simply create a negligence cause of action imposing unlimited potential liability on dramshops. Instead, the legislature placed a cap on a dramshop’s potential

liability, Utah Code Ann. § 32A-14-101(6) (1999 Repl.), and required that any claim be brought within two years. Id. at § 32A-14-101(7) (1999 Repl.). These limitations on the injured party's claim are balanced by the relaxed burden of proof imposed on the injured party. Rather than requiring proof of negligence, the Act allows an injured party to recover damages from a commercial purveyor of alcohol if the purveyor provided alcohol to a person who was "apparently under the influence" of alcohol or who the purveyor "knew or should have known" was under the influence of alcohol. Id. at § 32A-14-101(1)(b)(ii)(B), (C) (1999 Repl.).²

These provisions are consistent with the principle of strict liability.

Although strict-liability claims do not require proof of negligence, they nonetheless arise in the context of some act or event deemed worthy of imposing liability on the actor. Thus, for example, strict products liability is imposed because of a defect in design or manufacture of a product, but does not require the fact-finder to evaluate whether the defendant was negligent in the design or manufacture. Likewise, the strict liability imposed as a result of an "ultrahazardous" activity results from an act of the defendant - - engaging in an

² Liability also exists in cases where alcohol was provided to a person under the age of 21 or to a "known interdicted" person. Utah Code Ann. § 32A-14-101(1)(b)(ii)(A), (D) (1999 Repl.).

inherently dangerous activity - - but does not require an examination of whether the defendant acted with reasonable care.

Utah's Dramshop Act imposes liability in a similar fashion. A commercial purveyor is liable upon proof that it provided alcohol to a person who was apparently intoxicated or who the purveyor knew or should have known was intoxicated. The Act does not, however, require an examination of whether the purveyor was negligent. Thus, the liability imposed by the Dramshop Act is properly construed to be "a form of strict liability." Red Flame, 996 P.2d at 543.

CONCLUSION

The United States is liable under the Federal Tort Claims Act "to the same extent as a private individual." The question, therefore, is the extent of liability of a private person or entity under the facts alleged in Plaintiffs' Complaint. As discussed above, the only liability that could arise from the facts alleged by Plaintiffs is that imposed by Utah's Dramshop Act.