2003

John Miller and Joan Miller v. United States of America : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Further, following this reasoning, this Court should adopt the standards of Utah’s Alcoholic Beverage Control Act as duty owed by providers of alcohol in this State, consistent with § 286 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, thereby establishing a violation of the provisions of the Act as negligence per se. It is

³ Utah Code Ann. § 32A-14-101 (1999 Repl.).

⁴ “A person may not sell, offer to sell, or otherwise furnish or supply any alcoholic beverage or product to any person who is apparently under the influence of intoxicating alcoholic beverages or products or drugs or to a person whom the person furnishing the alcoholic beverage knew or should have known from the circumstances was under the influence of intoxicating alcoholic beverages or products or drugs.” Utah Code Ann. § 32A-12-204 (1999 Repl.).

⁵ “Any person who violates this title or the commission rules adopted under this title is guilty of a class B misdemeanor, unless otherwise provided in this title.” Utah Code Ann. § 32A-12-104 (1999 Repl.).

obvious that furnishing alcohol to an intoxicated person – a person deemed by law to lack the judgment to drink responsibly – poses a threat to public safety, and the Act unquestionably reflects a legislative concern for the dangers attendant to (or inherent in) the sale of alcohol. Utah’s Alcoholic Beverage control Act exists to protect Mr. and Mrs. Miller –members of the public—from the type of injuries that they sustained, in the manner that they sustained them, to wit, an auto accident caused by an intoxicated driver who had been negligently and wrongfully provided alcohol after he was visibly and obviously intoxicated.

The U.S. Government has a duty in common sense, under the common law principle of reasonable foreseeability and pursuant to Utah statutory law not to serve customers in its bar and clubs after those customers become intoxicated.

B. The U.S. Government’s Negligent Serving Of Alcohol To An Obviously Intoxicated Patron Was The Proximate Cause Of The Millers’ Injuries.

In the common law, a negligent or wrongful act is the proximate cause when it is the act that “necessarily sets in operation the factors that accomplish the injury.” Harline v. Barker, 912 P.2d 433, 439 (Utah 1996). “To establish proximate cause” a plaintiff must prove that the conduct complained of “was a substantial causative factor leading to his injury.” McCorvey v. Utah State Dept. of Transp., 868 P.2d 41, 45 (Utah 1993). As a general rule, “proximate cause is and issue for the jury to decide.” Id. Only when reasonable minds can draw only one inference from the evidence presented does proximate cause become a

question of law to be determined by the Court. See Rees, 587 P.2d at 133; Harline, at 439.

1. Traditional rule

Traditionally, at common law, third-party claims against one who negligently furnishes liquor for damages caused by the person intoxicated by the liquor were barred. Yost, 1047, fn 2. The reasons advanced for this prohibition were that the drinking of the alcohol was a subsequent intervening cause, which was the proximate cause of the injury, and that “the later injury to another was thought to be an unforeseeable result of providing the liquor.” Ono v. Applegate, 612 P.2d 533, 537 (Haw. 1980). These common law rationales are dated, based in an age of horses and carriages and not the fast-paced age we live in where an “imbiber going upon the public highways” is “capable of producing mass death and destruction.” Meade v. Freeman, 462 P.2d 54 (1969).

It is axiomatic that automobile accidents are the foreseeable result of intoxicated driving. With the risks raising to the level of common knowledge, the assumption that the ingestion of the alcohol is a sufficient intervening force to obviate all liability of the one providing the alcohol is counter to accepted common law principles in which a “tortious act by a third party does not act as an intervening force if such acts are within the scope of the risk created.” Craig v. Driscoll, 813 A.2d 1001, 1017 (Conn. 2002). Indeed, this Court has recognized

that by improperly providing alcohol to another one may proximately cause injury to a third-person. See Rees, at 133; Yost, at 1047; MacKay, at ¶12, 1246.

The hazards and the awareness of the age have made archaic the old common law rule of third-party liability.

2. Evolution of The Traditional Rule

The general rule that a common law negligence action could not be brought by a third-party against the person who provided alcohol to another began in the middle of the last century. In 1959, New Jersey Supreme Court held that a third party injured by an intoxicated person could bring a negligence action against the commercial vendor who sold the inebriate the alcohol. Rappaport v. Nichols, 156 A.2d 1 (N.J. 1959). Since Rappaport, most courts have abandoned the old common law rule as being "antiquated and illogical." Brigance v. Velvet Dove Restaurant, Inc., 725 P.2d 300, 302 (Okl. 1986).⁶ Additionally, many states that already had enacted the dramshop acts, including Utah, have recognized a new common law right of action against commercial vendors and have permitted

⁶ See Nazareno v. Urie, 638 P.2d 671 (Alaska 1981); Ontiveros v. Borak, 557 P.2d 200 (Ariz. 1983); Ono v. Applegate, 612 P.2d 533 (Haw. 1980); Michnik-Zilberman v. Gordon's Liquor, Inc., 453 N.E.2d 430 (Mass. 1983); Campbell v. Carpenter, 566 P.2d 893 (Or. 1977); Jardine v. Upper Derby Lodge No. 1973, Inc., 198 A.2d 550 (Pa. 1964); Sorensen v. Jarvis, 350 N.W.2d 108 (Wis. 1984); Pfiefer v. Copperstone Restaurant and Lounge, 693 P.2d 644 (Or. App. 1985); Vesely v. Sager, 486 P.2d 151 (Calif. 1971); Deeds v. U.S., 306 F.Supp. 348 (D. Mont. 1969).

plaintiffs to recover in negligence, even where their claim would be barred by the Dramshop Act provisions.⁷

Two decision, made over twenty years apart by court on far sides of this country epitomize the thoughtful evolution of the common law of third-party liability mandated by changing circumstances, Ono v. Applegate, 612 P.2d 533, decided in 1980 by the Supreme Court of Hawaii, and Craig v. Driscoll, 813 A.2d 1003, decided in 2002 by the Supreme Court of Connecticut.

In Ono, the plaintiff was woman who was injured when the automobile driven by a man who had been intoxicated before going to a tavern, where he continued to drink, crossed the middle of the road and struck the auto in which she was a passenger head-on, killing two of the occupants and seriously the plaintiff. The defendant tavern's motion to dismiss was denied, and the defendant appealed the apportionment of fault. At issue on appeal was the question, "whether a person who in injured by an inebriated automobile driver may recover, in the absence of dram shop legislation, from the tavern that provided alcohol to the driver in violation of [Hawaii's] liquor control law." Id. at 537.

⁷ See Mullis v. Monroe, 505 S.E.2d 131 (N.C. 1998); Largo Corp. v. Crespin, 727 P.2d 1098 (Colo. 1986); Connolly v. Conlon, 371 N.W.2d 832 (Iowa 1985); Thaut v. Finley, 213 N.W.2d 820 (Mich. 1973); Trail v. Christian, 213 N.W.2d 618 (Minn. 1973); Berkeley v. Park, 262 N.Y.S.2d 290 (1965); Hutchens v. Hankins, 303 S.E.2d 584 (N.C. 1983); Mason v. Roberts, 294 N.E.2d 884 (Ohio 1973); Tomlinson v. Love's Country Stores, Inc., 854 P.2d 910 (Okla. 1993); Brigance v. Velvet Dove Restaurant, Inc., 725 P.2d 300, 302-03 (Okla. 1986).

The court examined the reasoning of Vesely v. Sager, 486 P.2d 151 (Calif. 1971), wherein the California Supreme Court stated “that the consumption of liquor, the resulting intoxication, and the injury-producing conduct were foreseeable intervening causes which would not relieve the tavern of liability. Id. (citing Vesely at 159). Noting with approval the reasoning in Vesely and the clear trend in “[o]ther jurisdictions, that in the absence or inapplicability of dram shop legislation” had allowed recovery against taverns “for injuries received by a third person as a result of a customer’s intoxication,” the Ono court was persuaded that “a person injured by an inebriated tavern customer” should be permitted recovery at common law, provided the plaintiff proves negligence. Id. at 538.

In defining the common law duty of the tavern, the court, employing the standard set for in the Restatement (Second) of Torts, determined that the liquor control act imposed a duty on the tavern “not to serve a person under the influence of alcohol.” Id. at 539. On the issue of proximate cause, the court held that “in light of the universal use of automobiles and the increasing frequency of accidents involving drunk drivers,” a tavern owner should reasonably foresee “the consequences of serving liquor;” thus, “the consumption, resulting inebriation and injurious conduct are therefore foreseeable intervening acts which will not relieve the tavern of liability. “ Id. at 538-39.

Similar Ono, the issue in this case is whether to allow common law recovery for negligently providing liquor to an intoxicated person, in violation of

Utah's Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, in the absence of Dramshop liability. As in Ono, the U.S. Government N.C.O. Club had a duty to not serve intoxicated patrons. Under the reasoning Ono, the U.S. Government should reasonable foresee that persons who become intoxicated at the N.C.O. Club are likely to be involved auto accidents, like the one that seriously injured the Millers and that it is the breach of the duty is a proximate cause of resulting automobile accidents.

In Craig v. Driscoll, the Connecticut court dealt with the issue of whether, notwithstanding Connecticut's Dram Shop Act, the common law recognizes negligent infliction of emotional distress claims against a purveyor of alcoholic beverages made by the mother and brother of a pedestrian who was run down by the intoxicated patron of the purveyor's establishment. 813 A.2d at 1006. The Craig court undertook a thorough analysis of preemption by the Dram Shop Act, the common law, the effect of the Act upon the common law and strength of the reasoning behind extant proximate cause jurisprudence. Id. Making way for the common law cause of action outside the Act's consideration, the court expressly rejected the "fiction that the behavior of anyone who is under the influence of alcohol is automatically, as a matter of law, an intentional intervening act that relieves the liability of a vendor of alcohol even though the vendor's negligence is otherwise established." Id. at 1022.

Similarly, this Court should further embrace the notion that, whether or not the person under the influence is a minor, the behavior of an intoxicated person is

not of necessity an intervening cause of injury to a third person, when a purveyor of alcohol continues to serve alcohol to the intoxicated person

The U.S. negligently and wrongfully continued to serve alcohol to an obviously and visibly intoxicated Arthur Valle. The intoxicated Mr. Valle then left the Club and drove his vehicle onto the roads of Utah where he collided with the Millers' vehicle, severely and permanently injuring the Millers. This accident was the foreseeable result of the intoxication enabled and caused by the negligent over-serving by the U.S. Under traditional common law principles, the U.S. is liable to the Millers', insofar as the Millers' injuries were caused by its negligent acts or omissions. The Millers' claim of negligence against the U.S. and the facts of this case satisfy all elements of claims for common law negligence and negligent infliction of emotional distress, and this Court should recognize the Millers' common law claims.

II. THE COMMON LAW LIABILITY OF THE U.S. GOVERNMENT IS NOT PREEMPTED BY UTAH'S DRAMSHOP ACT.

In Gilger v. Hernandez, this Court explored the extent of preemption of the common law by Utah's Dramshop Act. 2000 UT 23, 997 P.2d 305. The Court explained the relationship between common law liability and limited Dramshop liability as a trade-off, whereby

[T]he legislature assured those who were subjected to dramshop liability that they would not be subject to common law negligence liability and that this statutory liability would be limited, something that exposure to common law negligence liability would not have provided.

Id., at ¶13, 310. The Court concluded, “that the common law of negligence is preempted *insofar as it may impose liability for acts that the Dramshop Act reaches.*” Id. (emphasis added). This holding gives rise to the logical inference that common law liability is not preempted for acts that are not reached by Utah’s Dramshop Act, where no trade-off between limited liability and common law liability took place.

The Utah’s Dramshop Act does reach the acts U.S. Government or its employees in procuring and selling alcoholic beverages. The U.S. Government is not liable under the Utah’s Dramshop Act through the operation of the Federal Tort Claims Act, and there was no trade-off between the protections of the Act and the common law. Moreover, the Utah legislature did not intend for Utah’s Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, including Dramshop, to apply to the U.S. Government. Accordingly, Utah’s Dramshop Act does not preempt the common law liability of the U.S. Government.

A. Under the Federal Tort Claims Act, Utah’s Dramshop Act Does Not Reach Acts Of U.S. Government Employees.

Under the doctrine of federal preemption and through the operation of the Federal Tort Claims Act, Utah’s Dramshop Act does not reach the acts of the U.S. Government U.S. Government. If the United States’ assertion is correct, Utah’s Dramshop Act creates a regime of strict but limited liability for those who violate its provisions; however, the through the operation of federal preemption and the Federal Tort Claims Act, the provision and liability of the Act do not reach the

acts of U.S. Government employee. Accordingly, the common law of negligence, as to the U.S. Government, is not preempted by the Dramshop Act⁸.

1. Strict Liability of Utah's Dramshop Act

This Court has held that Utah's Dramshop Act imposes a form of strict liability. Reeves v. Gentile, 813 P.2d 111, 117 (Utah 1991). Notwithstanding the allocation of comparative fault, under Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-37(2), the Act still "prescribes a form of strict liability." Red Flame, Inc. v. Martinez, 2000 UT at ¶11. See also Adkins v. Uncle Bart's. Accordingly, Utah's Dramshop Act is a strict liability statute,

2. Liability of the U.S. Government Under the FTCA

The Federal Tort Claims Act waives the governmental immunity of the U.S. Government for claims for money damages "for injury or loss of property, or personal injury or death" when that injury or loss of property is "caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employees of the Government" acting in the scope and course of employment, "if a private person, would be liable to the claimant" under "the law of the place where the act or omission occurred." 28 U.S.C. § 1346(b)(1). The United States Supreme Court has determined that the FTCA's broad waiver of immunity does "not authorize the imposition of strict

⁸ Of course, if there was no common law liability for serving liquor to a clearly intoxicated individual, there would be nothing for the Dramshop Act to preempt. Such is a clear recognition by the *Mackay* Court that there is common law negligence for selling liquor to someone that is clearly intoxicated. See *Mackay v. 7-Eleven Sales Corp.*, 995 P.2d 1233 (Utah 2000)(recognizing cause of action for negligent sale of alcoholic beverages to a minor in violation of prescribed law).

liability of any sort upon the Government.” Laird v. Nelms, 406 U.S. 797, 804, 92 S.Ct. 1899, 1902 (1972) (restating rule announced in Dalehite v. United States, 346 U.S. 15, 73 S.Ct. 956 (1953)).

Utah’s Dramshop Act prescribes a form of strict liability. The U.S. Government has denied any application of liability without fault. Thus, the Act does not reach the acts of the U.S. Government. Since, the Act does not reach the U.S. Government, no exchange of limited strict liability for the liability of the common law could have taken place. Accordingly and because the Act does not reach the acts of the U.S. Government and because there was no exchange of common law liability for limited strict liability, the Act does not preempt the common law as to the U.S. Government.

B. The Utah Legislature Did Not Intent Utah’s Dramshop Act To Preempt The Common Law As To The U.S. Government.

Utah’s Dramshop Act does not preempt common law liability of the actions of the U.S. Government. Utah has adopted the preemption model developed by the United States Supreme Court “for determining preemptive intent.” Gilger v. Hernandez, 2000 UT 23, ¶11, 997 P.2d 305, 308.

Under this model, the Court first looks to find “language in the statute that reveals explicit legislative to preempt common law. Id. If this explicit language does not appear, the court considers “whether the statute’s structure and purpose or nonspecific statutory language, nonetheless reveal a clear, but implicit preemptive intent.” Id. This preemptive intent may become apparent a) when the

statute “creates a scheme of statutory regulation so pervasive” that it is reasonable to infer, “that the legislature left no room for the common law to supplement it,” b) when the statutory law is “in irreconcilable conflict with the common law,” or c) when the common law stands “as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of the legislature.” Id. at 308-09 (citing Barnett Bank of marion County v. Nelson, 517 U.S. 25, 31, 116 S.Ct. 1103, 1104 (1996)(internal quotations and marks omitted).

Under this model analysis, it is clear that the Utah’s Dramshop Act does not preempt the common law as it may apply to the U.S. Government. The Act does not expressly preempt the common law of liability. Nor do the statute’s structure, purpose and language reveal an intent to preempt the common law as it may apply to the sale and distribution of alcohol by the U.S. Government. Instead, the legislature left room for the common law to supplement the Act; there is no conflict between the common law and the Act in this case; and here the common law offers a means to more fully fulfill the purposes of the Act.

1. Utah’s Dramshop Act Does Not Expressly Preempt The Common Law

Utah’s Dramshop Act does not expressly preempt the common law of liability for liquor distribution by the U.S. Government. See Utah Code Ann. 32A-14-101, et seq.; Id. at ¶ 12, 309. The Act does except the State, as well as its agencies, employees and political subdivisions from any civil liability “arising out of their activities in regulating, controlling, authorizing, or otherwise being

involved in the sale or other distribution of alcoholic beverages.” Utah Code Ann. § 32A-14-102 (1999 Repl.). See Brinkerhoff v. Forsyth, 779 P.2d 685 (1989)(holding that explicit language of Act precluded liability of employee of State-owned NCO Club under the Act). However, the Act is notably silent as to the liability of the U.S. Government. Thus, the question becomes whether the statute’s structure, purpose and language reveal an intent by the Legislature to preempt the common law of liability as to the U.S. Government.

2. The Structure And Language of Utah’s Dramshop Act Do Not Reveal An Intent To Apply Act To The U.S. Government

The structure and language of the Act do not reveal an intent to preempt the law of liability for the sale and distribution of alcohol by the U.S. Government. While “[t]he Act evidences an overall scheme of regulation of liability for liquor providers,”⁹ this scheme extends only to state-licensed providers of alcohol. In fact, the structure and language of Title 32A indicates that the U.S. Government is decidedly not considered or regulated by Utah’s Dramshop Act.

Title 32A applies to “alcoholic beverage control in this state except where local authorities are expressly granted regulatory control.” Utah Code Ann. § 32A-1-102(3) (1990 Amd.). However, “local authority” is defined as “the legislative body” of a county if unincorporated “or the governing body” of a city or town if incorporated. Utah Code Ann. § 32A-1-105(25)(1990 Amd.). Notably,

⁹ Gilger, at ¶12, 309.

even Title 32A's definition of "public building" does not include structures owned or leased by the U.S. Government¹⁰, despite the existence of federal military installations in Utah since before statehood and the relative comprehensiveness of the regulatory scheme, there is no mention of application to the U.S. Government.

Further, the plain language of the Dramshop Act indicates a legislative awareness and acceptance of remedies outside of the specific statutory remedies. Subsection (4) does not expressly limit the type of remedy but provides that "[a] person who suffers injury under Subsection (1) or (2) has a cause of action against the person who provided the alcohol." Utah Code Ann. § 32A-14-101(4) (1999 Repl.). While Subsection (8) provides that "[n]othing in this chapter precludes any cause of action or additional recovery against the person causing the injury. Id. Thus, while a cause of action does lie for persons, like the Millers, who are injured as the result of a person providing alcohol in violation of the Act, the cause of action is not of necessity at statutory cause of action, nor are other causes of action precluded or preempted by the Act.

Construed liberally so as to effect the purpose of the Dramshop Act and to further justice, the language and structure of Utah's Dramshop does not preempt common law causes action, which impose liability upon the U.S. Government.

¹⁰ Utah Code Ann. § 32A-1-105(38)(1990 Amd.) defines a public building as "any building or permanent structure owned or leased by the state, a county, or local government entity that is used for public education, transacting public business, or regularly conducting government activities."

Supplementation By The Common Law

The permissive language in Subsections (4) and (8), combined with the lack of any reference to the U.S. Government, which procures and distributes alcohol in Utah, in both the Act and Title 32A as a whole, is evidence of legislative intent to allow the common law to supplement statutory provisions of the Act. This Court has already recognized that there is room to supplement the statutory remedies provided by Utah's Dramshop Act for the negligent and improper provision of alcohol with the common law. See Yost v. State; MacKay v. 7-Eleven Sale Corp. Further, one must assume that the Legislature was aware that the operation of the FTCA as interpreted by federal courts would preclude the strict statutory liability imposed by the Act, when it did not include the actions of the U.S. Government within the provisions of Title 32A. Thus, leaving the common law to supplement the statutory provisions of the Act.

Conflict Between The Act And The Common Law

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